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1. Name of Property
historic name Emery School

other names/site number

2. Location
street & number 116 Hill Street N/A not for publication

city or town Biddeford N/A vicinity
state Maine code ME county York code 031 zip code 04005

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended,
I hereby certify that this X nomination__ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards
for registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional 
requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.
In my opinion, the property X meets___does not meet the National Register Criteria. I recommend that this property
be considered significant at the following level(s) of significance:

national __statewide^ X local

7/J-7/
Sigfiaftire of certifying (rfficialTTitl^

MAINE HISTORIC PRESERVATION COM
State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government

In my opinion, the property__meets___does not meet the Nationai Register criteria.

Signature of commenting official Date

Title State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government

4. National Park Service Certification
I hereby^rtify that this property is:

entered in the Nationai Register

__determined not eiigible for the Nationai Register

__other (explain:)

. determined eiigibie for the National Register 

. removed from the National Register

ionature of the Keeber * Date of Action

5. Classification
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Name of Property

Ownership of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply.)

Category of Property
(Check only one box.)

X private X

public - Local
public - State
public - Federal

building(s)
district
site
structure
object

YORK COUNTY. MAINE
County and State

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing Noncontributing 
1 buildings

sites
structures
objects
Totai

Name of reiated muitiple property listing
(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing)

Number of contributing resources previously 
listed in the National Register

N/A

6. Function or Use
Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.)

EDUCATION / School

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.) 

VACANT/NOT IN USE

7. Description
Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions.)

LATE 19™ & 20™ C. REVIVALS/ Colonial Revival

hflaterials
(Enter categories from instructions.)

foundation: CONCRETE

BRICK

STONE / Granite

walls: BRICK

OTHER/cast stone

roof: ASPHALT

SYNTHETICS/Rubber
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Narrative Description
(Describe the historic and current physicai appearance of the property. Expiain contributing and noncontributing resources if necessary. Begin with a 
summary paragraph that briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as its location, setting, size, and significant features.)

Summary Paragraph

The former Emery School is a Georgian Revival style, two-story, red brick building located a few blocks south of 
Biddeford’s downtown commercial district. The school is surrounded by a residential neighborhood dominated by multi­
family dwellings from the late 19th and early 20th centuries. Constructed in 1912/1913, and designed by the architectural 
firm of Miller & Mayo, this elementary school sits on a lot of approximately one acre that is framed on three sides by Hill, 
Birch, and Summer Streets. The rear lot line of the school borders a residential property. The Emery School building 
stands on a relatively flat site, most of which is paved. Curb cuts on Summer, Birch and Hill Streets allow for vehicular 
access to a large paved parking area on the southwest side of the building. The grade to the rear (northeast) of building is 
built up slightly where a paved play area was constructed. A few mature trees dot the perimeter of the property, which is 
circumscribed by chain-link fencing.

Narrative Description

The Emery School is essentially rectangular in plan (nine bays wide and six bays deep) and sits on a low concrete 
foundation. At each elevation the first floor is distinguished by rusticated brick coursing, while the upper levels have brick 
quoins. The building is trimmed with a combination of granite and cast-stone elements, the granite being located where it 
is most visible from the public sidewalk. The cast stone is an excellent imitation of the granite and in some cases, is 
difficult to distinguish from the natural stone. Two prominent belt courses unify all four elevations. Window openings were 
partially blocked with opaque panels and fitted with small aluminum awning sash around 1980; those at the basement of 
the rear elevation were infilled with brick. The only original sash remaining is a single small window at the basement level 
of the west elevation; the opening is blocked with brick from the exterior but the sash remains in place and is visible on the 
interior. The school rises two stories to a large unfinished attic space with fenestration on the side elevations. The building 
is enclosed by a shallow hip roof, from which project five slender brick chimneys. The roof is finished with asphalt shingles 
over the slopes and rubber roofing on the flat plain. The roofline is defined by a prominent pressed metal cornice with 
brackets accentuating the entry bays of the fagade (southwest elevation).

The symmetrical fagade is highly ornamented with granite and cast stone elements and features two principal 
entries, each located at the base of a slightly projecting pavilion. The pavilions are framed by rusticated brick pilasters 
supporting a full entablature with a stepped pediment. The top of each pilaster is decorated by a cast stone cartouche. 
Both entries are framed by cast stone surrounds with paneled pilasters rising to an entablature with dentils and modillions 
supported by scroll brackets. Access to each of the main entries is by means of a low stoop with granite treads and 
concrete cheek walls. The entries are recessed from the face of the building and each holds modern aluminum double 
doors installed in the 1970s. Each entry is now blocked off with chain link fencing. Plywood panels were set in the location 
of the original transoms. The fa9ade is divided into seven window bays (with the pavilions serving as the end bays) and 
each window openings holds a pair of sash. Sash at the second floor are set beneath a wide transom, now obscured with 
plywood coverings. One sash at the basement was replaced by a modern flush metal door. Windows at the first floor have 
rusticated splayed brick heads and cast stone sills, while those at the upper level have double height segmental arched 
openings with keystones and springers; each window is topped by a flat hood mold.

Side elevations are identical, having bands of windows interrupted by brick pilasters. There are three floors of 
windows at the side elevations, the result of having fenestration at the attic level. The central bay features a narrow 
window opening at each floor (basement window at the center of both the east and west elevations is infilled with brick). 
The central basement window at both side elevations is flanked by eight evenly-spaced window openings, all covered by 
plywood. Windows flanking the central bay at the three upper floors are arranged with a wide tripartite window set between 
two standard window openings. The central bay, with small narrow windows, is flanked by broad pilasters rising to simple 
stepped capitals. The remaining bays are defined by slender pilasters topped by a sheet metal capital in a stylized triglyph 
motif. A series of raised brick panels under the attic windows separate the attic level from the second floor.

The symmetrical rear elevation consists of two slightly projecting end wings flanking the central bays, where all 
fenestration is consolidated. Two entries at this elevation provide access to the main stairwells of the building. Each entry 
is flanked by deep paneled brick pilasters and topped by a simple hood supported on paired brackets. The historic doors
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were replaced by modern aluminum double doors in the 1970s. A small brick bulkhead that appears to be original provides 
access to the basement near the center of the rear elevation. Architectural ornamentation is much less pronounced at this 
elevation. Windows have simple cast stone sills and are topped by splayed brick heads with keystones. Decorative brick 
panels with diaper patterning run along the top of the second floor.

The interior has remained substantially intact, with only relatively minor modifications to the original plan and 
finishes. The building was designed with two matching staircases symmetrically located along the rear wall. These stairs 
each open into a small hallway near the center of the building at the basement level. The basement is divided into a series 
of large rooms, including bathrooms (northwest and northeast rooms), a mechanical room at the center of the rear wall, a 
large room at the center of the front wall (originally the manual training room) flanked by two smaller rooms (originally 
recreation rooms but more recently used for storage). The floor plan has not changed from the original design except for 
the addition of a single partition at the west end of the former manual training room. Rooms at the first and second floors 
open off a wide central corridor (running east/west). Five alcoves off of each of the corridors historically served as small 
coat rooms. There were originally two additional coat rooms off the first floor corridor (south wall) but those were later 
converted to bathrooms. Floor plans have changed very little since the school was constructed. There are six classrooms 
at the first floor. The central classroom along the front (south) wall was originally flanked by the principal’s office and a 
teachers lounge, both of which were subsequently subdivided into two rooms. The second floor retains the original five 
classrooms. The historic plan included a large assembly hall at the center of the front (south) wall. The most notable 
change to the upper floors occurred in the former assembly hall at the second floor where partitions were added dividing 
the space into two classrooms: the stage area was also partitioned off. The building has a large unfinished attic with 
exposed brick walls and framing. Although the attic has windows on the side walls (east and wet), it was never used for 
anything but storage. Historic trim, doors, and flooring remain throughout the building. Typical spaces are finished with 
simple wood baseboards, chair rails, picture moldings, and casings. The two historic staircases with terrazzo steps and 
landings remain, although fire doors were added at each floor in the 1960s. Some of the classrooms now have suspended 
panel ceilings but the historic character of the interior remains.
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8. Statement of Significance
Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x” in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property 
for Nationai Register iisting.)

A Property is associated with events that have made a 
significant contribution to the broad patterns of our 
history.

B Property is associated with the lives of persons 
significant in our past.

C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics 
of a type, period, or method of construction or 
represents the work of a master, or possesses high 
artistic values, or represents a significant 
and distinguishable entity whose components lack 
individual distinction.

D Property has yieided, or is likely to yield, information 
important in prehistory or history.

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions.) 
ARCHITECTURE

EDUCATION

Period of Significance 

1912/1913

Significant Dates 

1912

Criteria Considerations
(Mark V in alt the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

Significant Person
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.)

N/A

Cultural Affiliation

N/A

Architect/Builder

Miller & Mayo (1907-1926); Portland. Maine

A Owned by a religious institution or used for reiigious 
purposes.

B removed from its original location.

C a birthplace or grave.

D a cemetery. _________________

E a reconstructed building, object, or structure. ----------------------------------------------------------------------

F a commemorative property.

G less than 50 years old or achieving significance 
within the past 50 years.

Period of Significance (justification)

The Period of Significance (1912/13) covers the construction dates and marks the period when the property achieved the 
character on which its significance is based.

Criteria Considerations (explanation, if necessary)

N/A
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Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes level of significance and applicable 
criteria.)

The former Emery School meets Criteria A and C for listing in the National Register of Historic Places and is 
significant in the areas of Education and Architecture. The property is significant for its associations with the education of 
Biddeford children, providing public education to the community for roughly 80 years. The school represents early 20“' 
century changes in educational practices resulting from legislated reforms to improve sanitary conditions, update 
curriculum, and operate schools more cost effectively. The Emery School building was erected in 1912 as a “union" 
school, replacing four nearby public grammar schools that were consolidated into a single building in an effort to more 
efficiently educate a rapidly growing population of school age residents. The school building also achieves significance as 
a good example of a type and period of construction, namely a ‘modern’ 20“' century high school. It is also an important 
architectural landmark for the town, and an excellent and intact example of early twentieth century Revival-style 
institutional design by the prominent Portland architectural firm of Miller & Mayo.

Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of significance.)

Criterion A: Education
Overview of the evolution of the educational system in Biddeford up to 1912.

Little is known about the earliest education of children in Biddeford except that the first mention in town records of 
a schoolmaster occurred in 1731. In the mid-eighteenth century the town was required by state law to maintain a grammar 
school if there were greater than 100 resident families, as was the case in Biddeford. By 1770 there were four schools 
serving Biddeford, with sessions likely held in private homes. The first schoolhouse in Biddeford was erected at the town 
center near the head of Emery Street (formerly Schoolhouse Lane). The exact date of construction is not known, but there 
is documentation that a schoolhouse had been built by 1796 and offered 12-week sessions. There were four additional 
schools operated in private homes for 10-week sessions. The first public high school in Biddeford. the Washington Street 
School, was built in 1848 at the corner of Washington and Jefferson Streets, to provide continuing education after 
completion of the elementary grades, which ended at ninth grade or at age 15. With the rapid growth in Biddeford’s 
population after 1850 came an equally rapid expansion of the school system and infrastructure. As was typical in the more 
urban communities, a number of relatively small schools were constructed throughout the downtown neighborhoods, 
conveniently located so that students could easily walk to and from school. The Wentworth Street School was constructed 
in 1878, followed by the Bradbury Street and Birch Street schools in 1880. The original high school building was replaced 
in 1889 by a large brick structure on Alfred Street and the Washington Street building was subsequently used as a 
grammar school. By 1905 there were roughly 5,800 school children among Biddeford’s population of approximately 20,000 
residents and public schools included one high school, seven elementary schools. Most of the elementary schools held 
both primary (first through fourth grades) and grammar (fifth through ninth grades) school classes. One school (Wentworth 
St. School) had only primary grade classes, while another (Summer St. School) was a grammar school only. Kindergarten 
classes were held at one of the elementary schools (Birch St. School). For the most part, these schools in downtown 
Biddeford were small wood or brick buildings (some brick) typically holding 3 or four classrooms. Biddeford also operated 
12 public rural schools in the more remote sections of town. These were un-graded schools, typically with one teacher 
instructing all ages of local children. In addition, there were four parochial schools in the city (the earliest started in 1875), 
which were largely attended by the French Canadian residents. By 1912, the year construction began on the Emery 
School, Biddeford students had access to the high school, nine schools serving the elementary grades in the downtown 
neighborhoods kindergarten (at Birch Street School), and eleven rural schools. The Emery School replaced four of the 
small downtown schools.

Federal census data from the late 19® and early 20® centuries indicates that most of the local children attended 
classes through elementary school and then went to work in the mills, typically at the age of 15. Beginning in 1875 state 
law made it compulsory for children between ages 7 and 14 to attend school. Compulsory attendance was also mandated 
for children up to 16 years of age “who cannot read at sight or write legibly simple sentences in the English language” 
(“Laws of Maine” 1915,23). In addition to legislation requiring children to attend school, by the early 20® century there 
was growing concern nationwide for the health and well being of school age children. In Maine, as in other states, this 
concern led to the enactment of several laws to protect children, among them requirements for the appointment of a 
school physician, disinfecting of school buildings, providing toilets, vaccinating for smallpox, and testing of drinking water. 
There were further mandates relating to safety, including requiring licensed persons to operate steam heat systems, 
providing proper exits from schools, and fingerprinting pupils for identification in case of disaster (“150 Year of Education,"
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2000). The response to these concerns was the emergence of a new “modern” school type that would be adopted 
nationally (see discussion of Criterion C: Architecture below).

At the same time that the new modern school type was emerging, there was a growing trend across the country 
toward consolidation of smaller schools into larger buildings. The smaller schools were found to be expensive, inefficient, 
offered limited curriculum, and were wasteful of personnel at a time when qualified teachers were in demand. Although 
local school districts in the state had been abolished in 1893, transferring management of schools from district agents to 
the town municipalities and thereby creating more consistent education within a community, there continued to be 
disparities in the quality of education from one school to the next within many towns, including Biddeford. In many 
locations, like Biddeford a single grade was being taught at muitiple schools, in some cases to small numbers of children. 
To make matters worse, classes of the same grade in different schools were not receiving the same curriculum and pupils 
were showing varying levels of proficiency, as was reported by the Biddeford Superintendent of Schools in his annual 
report of 1912 (page 21). The Superintendent further noted that proper discipline was lacking in the schools as a result of 
there being several schools operating in a single building (kindergarten, primary, and grammar schools) and each teacher 
acting as principal. In the years that followed abolition of the school districts, the state and towns worked to provide 
transportation for students, which would in turn make consolidation of schools more viable. A Maine state school fund act 
in 1921 further encourage consolidation of schools by providing state funds to assist towns in the process.

By 1910 the school Superintendent in Biddeford had begun to promote consolidation of four schools in the 
downtown area located in close proximity to one another in the area east of Alfred Street (Summer Street School, Foss 
Street School, Sullivan Street School, and Pool Street School). The Superintendent’s annual report of 1910/11 refers to a 
“new union school, made possible where the different schools on the easterly side of Alfred St. would be housed in one 
building." These four older schools were of particular concern to the Superintendent with regard to health conditions. The 
1912 Superintendent’s annual report noted that the “conditions of heating and ventilation have been especially bad for 
years in the older buildings on the easterly side of Alfred St.” and that it was “little wonder that these schools have been 
successful disease incubators” (pagel 9). The Superintendent further reported that “this fact was the main consideration 
urged for the new school building" (page 19). Thus in 1912 plans were underway for the new “union” school, which was to 
serve as the sole primary/grammar school for residents living in the downtown area east of Alfred Street.

The Emery School was constructed on the site of the old Summer Street School, a wood-frame Queen Anne style 
building that was removed to make way for the new structure. The new school was named for Thomas H. Emery, a 
beloved Biddeford teacher from 1865 to 1890. The Emery School was constructed at a cost of $60,000 by local contractor 
Fred L. Emmons. The building could accommodate up to 440 students in 11 classrooms, although the initial enrollment 
was 380 students. The Emery School was built to house both primary and grammar school classes (grades 1 through 9).
L. N. Williams, who had been Principal at the Summer Street School, took up that same position at the new Emery School. 
The nine other teachers employed at the new school had also previously taught in the local schools (all but one came from 
the four schools that had been closed when the Emery School was built).

The school curriculum taught in Biddeford in the early years of the 20“’ century was typical of what might be found 
in schools of that era. The Annual Report of the Superintendent of Public Schools for the 1904-1905 school year lists the 
following classes as being taught in a typical grammar school term: reading, spelling, arithmetic, history, language, 
physiology, drawing, writing, physical culture, and music (pages 48-49). The new school building type that emerged 
nationwide around 1910 also incorporated changes to accommodate a more specialized curriculum, as promoted by 
educational reformers of the early 20"* century. The compulsory education laws of the late lO*” and early 20*'’ centuries 
resulted in large numbers of pupils who would likely enter the workforce directly after elementary school and would thus 
benefit most from vocational or commercial training. The growth in manufacturing created a particular need for skilled 
workers in industrial centers like Biddeford. Dr. Payson Smith, the Maine Superintendent of education from 1907 to 1917, 
was a strong advocate of a more specialized curriculum that included a greater emphasis on vocational training. He felt 
that too great an emphasis was placed on college preparatory courses when 90% of Maine students ultimately worked in 
agriculture and other trades. Maine state laws provided incentives for towns to include specialized training in their 
curriculums. Any elementary school that offered instruction in manual training could receive reimbursement of a portion of 
the teacher’s salary from the state. Similar financial incentives were offered to high schools that provided classes in 
agriculture, mechanical arts or domestic science. Commercial classes in bookkeeping, typing and stenography were 
gradually introduced into curriculums as well. Between 1910 and 1912 commercial classes were introduced at the 
Washington Street elementary school in Biddeford.

The design of the Emery School strictly followed the state guidelines for new schools and was well received by the 
state reviewers. The plans were said to have been endorsed by the office of the State Superintendent of Schools “as the
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best set of plans that has yet come to the attention of the department” and it was the first time a set of plans was 
“unhesitatingly approved” the State Board of Health (“Annual Reporf, 1912,19-20). The basement level of the Emery 
School included a large manual training room, recreation rooms, a mechanical room and bathrooms. The first floor had six 
classrooms surrounding a wide corridor, the principal’s office and a teachers lounge. The second floor was designed with 
five classrooms and a large assembly hall that could seat up to 300 people. The assembly hall apparently also served as a 
gathering place for local residents. The Biddeford Daily Journal reported:

“The many entertainments and moving pictures that have been held in the large entertainment hall in 
recent years have not only been greatly enjoyed by pupils and teachers, but have been attended by many 
parents of the children as well. This entertainment hall or assembly room is an added feature which many 
grammar schools in the state are forced to get along without, and it is a great asset and help to the Emery 
school." {Biddeford Daily Journal, 1926, 5)

Criterion C: Architecture

Educational reformers and commissions in the early 20*'' century, particularly in states where educational 
legislation had recently been passed, were pushing for improvements to school buildings as the basis for establishing 
successful school practices. Countless books, articles, pamphlets, and studies were released, by both the architectural 
and educational communities, setting forth principles and standards by which new schools should be constructed, taking 
into consideration changes in health concerns, curriculum and building technology. A report on Minneapolis public schools 
notes that “designers responded with spacious, well-lighted buildings furnished with a variety of new equipment and 
specially programmed rooms. Plans were based on I, U and H shapes, and featured large windows, well-ventilated and 
heated spaces, and closely studied and carefully planned interior arrangements that provided for hygiene, fireproofing, and 
student safety.” (“Minneapolis Public Schools,” 2005 14) This new building type was utilized almost universally in this 
country for new school construction from about 1910 into the 1930s. Among the laws implemented by the state of Maine 
was a requirement that all plans and specifications for public school buildings be approved by the state Superintendent of 
Schools and the state Board of Health (“Laws of Maine,” 1915 6-7). To assist communities in efforts to bring school 
buildings up to more healthful and safe standards, the state Educational Department published guidelines for the 
improvement of existing schools and grounds as well as for construction of new buildings. In 1904 the State of Maine 
Educational Department published a pamphlet entitled Improvement of School Buildings and Grounds in which they made 
detailed recommendations for all aspects of new school design and construction, from selecting the site to appropriate 
materials for floors and blackboards. The recommendations made in the Maine publication were consistent with those 
found in the many reports relating to educational reform released nationwide. Among the recommendations of the Maine 
Educational Department that most strongly influenced architectural design were the following:

• Foundation walls should be of solid masonry and the top of the foundation wall should be at least 3’6” 
above the ground.

Buildings should not exceed two stories in height.
The exterior of the building should be “simple in construction, yet dignified in its adornment”.
The entrance should be sheltered by a “suitable portico”.
Corridors should be wide enough for two rows of students going opposite directions to pass “with 

perfect freedom” (no less than 8 feet wide).
Coat rooms should be well-ventilated to allow clothing to dry and should be located so that the 

teacher can clearly see them.
Stairs should be at least five feet wide.
Classrooms should be from 2/3 to 3/4 as wide as they are long and should not exceed 30’ in length.
Height of the classrooms should be between 11 and 14 feet.
Floor area of a classroom should allow no less than 20 square feet for each student.
Windows should be on the wall to the students’ left side and the rear window on this wall should be 

within one foot of the rear wall, while the front window should be opposite the first row of student 
seats.

Bottom of the windows should be on level with the eyes of the majority of students occupying the 
room and should extend to within six inches of the ceiling.

Windows should be “massed with narrow mullions between the different divisions".
Floors should be of yellow birch or, if necessary, a superior quality of spruce.
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• Blackboards should be at least 3’6” wide and the height off the ground should be appropriate to the
age of students.

• Classroom doors should have transoms of at least one foot in height.
• Interior finishes should be of yellow birch, native oak, hard pine or a superior quality of spruce,

covered with two coats of varnish (“Improvement of School Buildings,” 52-62).

The new Emery School is an excellent example of this new school building type. It was designed by the well- 
known Portland architectural firm of Miller & Mayo. This firm were highly regarded for their design of buildings throughout 
the state; particularly schools, which included the Portland High School (1918, NR: 84003879), Freeport High School 
(1917), and Lincoln School in South Portland (1926). William R. Miller (1866-1929) and Raymond J. Mayo (1878-1966) 
began their partnership in 1907, by which time Miller had already been practicing for 10 years and had become well-known 
throughout the state for the design of public buildings. Miller & Mayo began their partnership in Lewiston, where Miller had 
previously retained an office, but within a year they relocated to Portland. The firm showed great diversity in their 
commissions, from the fanciful castle-like residence of Amos Gerald in Fairfield, Maine in 1909 (NR; 80000252 ) to the 
heavily ornamented Maine Supply Company building in Lewiston (1910/11, NR: 86002286). The firm also designed a 
number of apartment buildings, most notably the Stateway Apartments (1913/14) and Marlborough Apartments (1914) in 
Portland. Miller & Mayo received numerous commissions for school buildings throughout Maine. The Emery School is 
typical of Miller & Mayo school commissions, not only in its basic form, but in the use of Colonial Revival style detailing, 
which was utilized in many of their buildings. Schools designed by Miller & Mayo in the smaller more rural communities 
tended to be smaller in scale and were often wood rather than masonry buildings, such as the Freeport High School and 
Cottage Farm School in Cape Elizabeth. Like the Emery School, these two school feature entrances in the end bays of the 
fagade, a feature found in a number of Miller & Mayo’s designs. The firm’s smaller schools were generally rectangular in 
plan and often had shallow hip roofs but, like their larger counterparts, were designed following the state guidelines to 
provide a healthful environment for students. Miller & Mayo schools in the more urban communities serving larger 
populations, like Portland, Biddeford, and South Portland, tended to be larger and constructed of brick. Plans of the larger 
buildings were more complex; U shaped or W shaped. One consistent theme among most the schools designed by Miler 
& Mayo is the use of Colonial Revival style detailing, which is generally subdued and often stylized. A notable exception if 
the Portland High School, which features a central portico with Classical Revival ornamentation.

Developmental history/additional historic context information (if appropriate)

The earliest settlement in what is today Biddeford occurred around 1616 on the tip of a narrow peninsula at the 
mouth of the Saco River, several miles southeast of the current downtown. This small coastal village, known as Winter 
Harbor (Biddeford Pool today) formed what is said to have been among the earliest permanent settlements in Maine 
(Varney, 1881 7). Biddeford was incorporated as a town in 1718, at which time the municipality included the current city of 
Saco. Saco was set off as an independent town, called Pepperellborough, in 1762. The name was changed to Saco in 
1805 and it became a city in 1867. Biddeford’s status was changed to that of a city in 1855.

The Saco River, which separates the towns of Biddeford and Saco, includes falls of about 40 feet that drop in two 
stages, only about 100 feet apart. The industrial value of these falls, located approximately four miles from Biddeford Pool, 
was recognized very early on and by the 18th century the focus of development had shifted from Biddeford Pool to the 
area known as the Falls. Industrial development in Biddeford, particularly cotton manufacturing fueled growth and 
expansion of the city in the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. The population of Biddeford soared from 2,874 in 
1840 to 6,095 in 1850 and reached roughly 9,000 by 1856. The number of local residents employed at the nearby Saco 
Water Power Company, Laconia Mill, Pepperell and York mills reached roughly 6,000 at its peak around 1900. In 1851 
86% of the workers were Maine natives (20% of those from Biddeford), most of the remainder were from Massachusetts 
and New Hampshire. By 1891 only about 27% of the workforce was made up of New Englanders. At the same time the 
number of French Canadians working in the mills had increased to approximately 55%. The remainder of the workforce in 
1891 was made up of smaller numbers of Irish and English operatives. Biddeford’s population continued to climb and by 
1910 Biddeford was the fourth largest city in Maine. By 1905 the number of residents had reached roughly 20,000.

Census records for the neighborhood served by the Emery School indicate that the students were largely children 
of French Canadian parents who immigrated to this country between 1880 and 1910. While the vast majority of local 
residents were Canadian born, there were also significant numbers of immigrants from England, Ireland, and Russia. 
Smaller numbers of residents were from the New England states, particularly Maine. Census data reveals that most of the
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school-age children were a mix of English and French speaking and were born in either Canada or Maine. Most of the 
adult males in the area were employed in the nearby Pepperell Cotton mills. The children generally came from large 
families, an average of about six children per household. Most of the local children attended classes through grammar 
school and then went to work in the mills, typically at the age of 15. Many of the French Canadian children also attended 
the four parochial schools in Biddeford. In fact, enrollment in the parochial schools far exceeded that of the public schools 
in the early twentieth century: by 1940 there were approximately 1,750 students attending Biddeford public schools and 
over 2,800 in the parochial schools. St. Andre School was located just north of the Emery School, near the intersection of 
Sullivan and Bacon Streets, while St. Josephs was established at the corner of Alfred and Birch Streets, west of the Emery 
School.

In addition to the Emery School and the High School, four of the city’s nineteenth and early twentieth century 
schools remained in use through the 1930s while others were consolidated. By 1950 the city had five public schools 
operating, including the Emery School. In the 1960s the city began an overhaul of their school facilities that included 
consolidating the smaller schools into new more modern buildings. A new high School was built in 1961, followed by a 
school for all kindergarten classes (J.F.K. Memorial School -1965) and a vocational school, the Biddeford Regional 
Center of Technology (1969). Today students in Grades 1-3 attend the Biddeford Primary School (established 1990), 
Biddeford Intermediate School (created for grades four and five in 1989), and Biddeford Middle School for grades six 
through eight (2006). The Emery School served the public school system in Biddeford into the 1990s. Beginning in 1993 
the building was occupied by the St. Louis Child Development Center (run by Catholic Charities of Maine), which remained 
until 2007. Since that time the school building has been vacant. The city has recently assigned the school property to a 
private developer who intends to undertake a Certified Rehabilitation project.
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Repositories

McArthur Public Library, Biddeford, Maine. Collection includes maps, newspapers, photographic collection, annual reports, 
and city directories.

Previous documentation on file (NPS):
____preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67 has been

requested)
____previously listed in the National Register
____previously determined eligible by the National Register
____designated a National Historic Landmark

recorded by Historic American Buiidings Survey # 
recorded by Historic American Engineering Record #

____ recorded by Historic American Landscape Survey #___________

Primary location of additional data:
X State Historic Preservation Office

____Other State agency
____Federal agency
____Local government
____University
____Other
Name of repository: Maine Historic Preservation Commission

Historic Resources Survey Number (if assigned):

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property
(Do not include previously listed resource acreage.)

UTM References
(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)

1 19 382336 4815878
Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing
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Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property .)

The nominated property occupies Biddeford city lot 39-40 and is delineated on the attached city GIS map.

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.)

The nominated boundaries include the city parcel that has historically been associated with the Emery School.

11. Form Prepared By

name/title Christine Beard

organization Tremont Preservation Services date May, 2011

street & number 21 Market Street telephone 978-356-0322

city or town Ipswich state MA zip code 01938

e-mail christinebeard(®verizon.net

Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form:

• Maps: A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources. Key all 
photographs to this map.

• Continuation Sheets

• Additional items: (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items.)
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Photographs:
Submit clear and descriptive photographs. The size of each image must be 1600x1200 pixels at 300 ppi (pixels per inch) 
or larger. Key all photographs to the sketch map.

Name of Property: Emery School
City or Vicinity: Biddeford
County; York State: ME
Photographer; Christine Beard
Date Photographed: August 10, 2010
Location of Originai Digitai Fiies: Tremont Preservation Services, 21 Market Street, Ipswich, MA 01983 

Description of Photograph(s) and number:

1 of 8 ME_York County_EmerySchool_0001 .tif
Streetscape view of south fagade, camera facing northwest.

2 of 8 ME_York County_EmerySchool_0002.tif
South fagade, camera facing north.

3 of 8 ME_York County_EmerySchool_0003.tif
West elevation, camera facing east.

4 of 8 ME_York County_EmerySchool_0004.tif
Rear (north) elevation, camera facing southwest.

5 of 8 ME_York County_EmerySchool_0005.tif
East elevation, camera facing northwest.

6 of 8 ME_York County_EmerySchool_0006.tif
Northeast stair, landing between first and second floors, camera facing northwest.

7 of 8 ME_York County_EmerySchool_0007.tif
Second floor, corridor, camera facing west.

8 of 8 ME_York County_EmerySchool_0008.tif
Second floor, northwest classroom, camera facing southwest.

Property Owner:
Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO.)

name
street & num ber telephone

city or town State zip code

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate 
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain a 
benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 et seq.).
Estimated Burden Statement Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18 hours per response including time for reviewing 
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of 
this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept, of the Interior, 1849 C. Street, NW. Washington, DC.
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Washington D.C. 20005

To Whom It May Concern:

Enclosed please find four (4) new National Register nominations for properties located in
the State of Maine:
%

^■Emery School, York County

Isaacson House, Androscoggin County 
Seven Star Grange #73, Waldo County 
Troy Union Meeting House, Waldo County

The photographs for the Emery School were printed on an Epson Stylus Photo 1400 
printer using Claria High Definition Ink, on Epson Premium Photo Paper Glossy. The 
photographs for the Isaacson House, the Troy Union Meeting house and the Seven Star Grange 
#73 were printed using Hewlett Packard Premium Plus Photo Paper and Vivera Inks on a Hewlett 
Packard Photosmart C7280 printer. These combinations of printer, ink, and paper were tested by 
Wilhelm Imaging Research and found to meet the archival standards of the National Register.

If you have any questions relating to these nomination, please do not hesitate to contact 
me at (207) 787-2132x2.

Sincerely,

Christi A. Mitchell 
Architectural Historian

Enc.

PHONE: (207) 287-2132 FAX: (207) 287-2335


